

CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANIZATION MENTORSHIP TOOLKIT



CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANIZATION MENTORSHIP TOOLKIT

International Republican Institute IRI.org @IRIglobal Civil Society Organization Mentorship Toolkit

Copyright © 2020 International Republican Institute. All rights reserved.

Permission Statement: No part of this work may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system without the written permission of the International Republican Institute.

Requests for permission should include the following information:

- The title of the document for which permission to copy material is desired.
- A description of the material for which permission to copy is desired.
- The purpose for which the copied material will be used and the manner in which it will be used.
- Your name, title, company or organization name, telephone number, fax number, email address and mailing address.

Please send all requests for permission to: Attn: Department of External Affairs International Republican Institute 1225 Eye Street NW, Suite 800 Washington, DC 20005 info@iri.org

Disclaimer: This publication was made possible through the support provided by the U.S. Department of State Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor. The opinions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of U.S. Department of State Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
UNDERSTANDING EACH ROLE	2
Being a Mentor	2
Supportive	2
A Resource	2
A Sounding Board	3
Understanding of Their Mentee	3
Being a Mentee	3
Motivated	3
Receptive to Feedback	3
Managing Up	4
Empowered	4
Sample Agenda:	4
Setting the Mentorship Up for Success	5
Setting Expectations	5
Committing to a Learning Agreement	5
Creating a Mentorship Plan	6
RELATIONSHIP BUILDING	8
Building Trust	8
Mentorship Structures	8
STAYING ENGAGED	9
Virtual Mentoring	
Project-Based Mentoring	
REVIEWING THE MENTORSHIP	
Reviewing the Learning Agreement	
Reviewing the Mentorship Plan	
Reviewing the Mentor-Mentee Relationship	
MENTORSHIP ADAPTIONS	
Mentoring Vulnerable Groups	
Mentor Preparation	
Research	13

Things to Consider	 	14
Working in Restrictive Spaces	 	16
ATTACHMENT A: SETTING EXPECTATIONS	 	17
ATTACHMENT B: MENTORSHIP LEARNING AGREEMENT	 	19
ATTACHMENT C: MENTORSHIP PLAN	 	20

INTRODUCTION

The International Republican Institute (IRI) defines a mentorship as a relationship in which a person or organization provides intentional, ongoing support to other people or organizations with fewer or different experiences, to build their capacity, motivation and professional opportunities. The purpose of this guide is to help mentors and mentees better understand their roles and responsibilities in the mentorship process, as well as to provide tips and tools to set mentorships up for success. This quide is applicable to both individual mentorships and mentorships between organizations.

As part of this guide, IRI will provide an overview of the mentorship process:



This guide was developed by a number of teams at IRI, providing a global view of best practices and lessons learned from mentorships within the civil society sector. Specifically, the guide was developed by the following teams.

Laos

IRI implemented three iterations of mentorship programming with Lao civil society groups. In the current iteration of IRI's mentorship program, IRI utilized a peer-to-peer learning structure and developed a mentorship curriculum and toolkit focused on sharing tools for funder outreach, capture planning and proposal development.

Panama

IRI trained and mentored civil society organizations (CSOs) in Panama on improving their organizational capacity to lead programs, connect with funders and partners, and manage operations. IRI evaluated each CSO's strengths and weaknesses through a baseline civic-organization assessment tool (COAT), the results of which the institute used to design and lead tailored trainings to improve each CSO's organizational capacity.

Cuba

IRI used the mentorship process to support civil society organizations and activists who promote human rights in Cuba.

The Evaluation and Research Team

This team leads thematic, cross-cutting and donor priority evaluations and research; produces thematic technical quidance to help teams understand sound program-design principles; and tests program theories that result in more innovative and effective projects. In July 2020, IRI conducted an "Evaluating Democracy, Rights and Governance (DRG) Effectiveness (EDGE)" assessment of previously completed IRI programming in Laos, focusing on how sustainability theories of change (TOCs) function in practice through mentorships.

UNDERSTANDING EACH ROLE

BEING A MENTOR

A mentor is an individual – whether local or international — with more experience in a given professional field, who helps someone with less experience (the mentee) to grow professionally. Based on IRI's assessment of mentorship best practices, there are three key things mentors need to do to ensure a successful mentorship. These include sharing relevant experiences and expertise, providing access to new and relevant resources, and serving as a sounding board for their mentee. More details about each aspect can be found below.

A Mentor is...

Supportive

A mentor's role is not to instruct or guide, but rather to offer experience and act as a sounding board, supporting mentees while they work through issues. This is done, in part, through sharing of experience. As such, mentors should be prepared to share stories about their past experiences, both good and bad, with their mentees to help them develop their own solutions and ideas. This can also include offering objective insights as an independent third party and introducing new ideas, techniques and stakeholders. In lieu of dictating the "correct" way to achieve a goal or fix a problem, the mentor should illustrate what they did in a similar situation, allowing the mentee to decide for themselves if that approach will work in their individual context.

Mentors can offer different types of support — technical and sector specific, or structural and organizational. Mentors should also have expertise in organizational or technical areas relevant to the mentee's mentorship goals. For example, if a mentee wants to become a leading voice for promoting women's legal rights, it may be beneficial for the mentor to have experience developing gender-equality policy so they can coach the mentee on relevant technical skills, such as interpreting new laws and conducting research-based advocacy.

With that said, if the mentee is seeking to develop their capacity for leadership, management or other soft skills, mentors do not need to be from the same sector to provide relevant expertise. For example, if the goal of the mentorship is to improve the mentee's ability to be a better manager of a CSO, the mentor can be from any sector as long they are willing and able to coach the mentee on developing their managerial skills.

A Resource

Mentors have an already-established network of peers and professional contacts that can be leveraged to make connections for their mentee. Mentors helping their mentee establish relevant, meaningful relationships is often one of the most important results of a mentorship. For instance, in contexts in which program implementation and safety are greatly affected by relationships with government officials, helping mentee organizations establish these connections may increase their chances of success. Additionally, mentors can introduce mentees to potential partners and collaborators, another key element of networking. In some cases, connections made through mentor introductions would have taken years to build without them. Mentors have already built trust and credibility with professional contacts and partners. As such, these collaborators may be more willing to provide support or funding to organizations or individuals for whom the mentors have vouched or have trained themselves.

In addition to relationship building, connecting mentees with other sources of knowledge and professional development opportunities - such as regional conferences or associations, or access to resource libraries — is a key component of being a successful mentor. Individuals being mentored are looking for advice and guidance, but it is unlikely they will find one mentor with all the answers. If a mentor does not have the skillset is to provide their mentee with the feedback and guidance they are seeking, they can connect their mentee with someone from their network who can assist them.

A Sounding Board

In an effective mentorship, the mentor should provide constructive feedback to their mentee on a regular basis. Constructive feedback is defined as providing useful comments and suggestions that contribute to a positive outcome, a better process or improved behaviors. Constructive feedback provides encouragement, support and direction to the person receiving it. When providing constructive feedback to a mentee, some key things a mentor should keep in mind include:

- 1. Focus on observation: Constructive feedback should relate to what can be seen or heard about the mentee's behavior, rather than making assumptions and interpretations.
- 2. Focus on things that can be changed: Constructive feedback should be about things that a mentee can change and improve, rather than things that are out of their control.
- 3. Acknowledge what is working: Constructive feedback should acknowledge the successes of the mentee in order to reinforce positive habits.

Understanding of Their Mentee

Mentors should be willing to grow and learn with their mentee. To do so, mentors should take the time to get to know their mentee at the onset of their relationship. Mentors can then tailor their guidance to the mentee's lived experiences. Keeping an open mind and treating their mentee with respect will foster a productive and successful relationship.

BEING A MENTEE

IRI defines a mentee as a person or organization who receives ongoing support from another person or organization with more experience to build their resources, motivation and/or professional opportunities. Based on IRI's assessment of mentorship best practices, IRI has identified key behaviors in which mentees need to engage for a successful mentorship. These include being motivated, embracing feedback and managing up.

A Mentee is...

Motivated

While mentorship is not costly for mentors, they are giving their time, resources and connections to this relationship. As such, it is important that mentees respect the mentorship process and take it seriously. A mentee needs to be motivated to take part in a mentorship, and they need to convey that enthusiasm and commitment to their mentor. Mentors often have less incentive than the mentee to participate in the mentorship. Therefore, to keep mentors engaged, it is important to be energetic, organized and focused, attend planned meetings and follow up on processes. A mentee should be able to contribute to the mentorship in order to build a genuine relationship with the mentor. For example, a mentee should take the initiative to reach out to their mentor and set up meeting or call times.

Furthermore, mentees need to recognize that hard work and sacrifice pay dividends down the road. Mentors are not there to do the work for the mentee; rather, they are there to support the mentee in doing their work better. For example, if a mentee would like help writing a proposal, they should have a draft ready for their mentor to review during their next meeting.

Receptive to Feedback

One of the fundamental purposes of a mentorship is for the mentor to provide insight to the mentee, which can be received in the form of constructive feedback or guided discussion. While constructive feedback may be useful in the review of a proposal or press release, in many situations a mentor may offer guiding questions that walk the mentee through a problem or challenge. The mentee should always keep in mind that the mentor's goal is to help their mentee. Mentors would be doing their mentees a disservice if they did not provide honest, sometimes critical, advice. Mentees must be open to being coached and stay receptive to the things their mentor tells them. Similarly, reacting in a defensive manner may discourage mentors from providing helpful feedback in the future.

Managing Up

Mentees must learn to manage up — that is, to help their mentor guide them. One of the most important, and easiest, aspects of managing up is for mentees to attend each meeting with an agenda to ensure targeted feedback and advice. As such, mentees should have a clear idea of what they want to improve upon or achieve within the mentorship program — and possibly an idea of how to accomplish these goals. This can be developed in consultation with the mentor, but it is important that this is established at the outset of the program. Following a meeting structure, such as the agenda below, will ensure an efficient and productive use of time.

It can be tempting for mentees to reach out to their mentor every time a question arises, especially if the mentor has agreed to make themselves available outside of scheduled sessions. However, mentees should limit the number or times that they reach out to their mentors for the big things and should make a list of the smaller questions that come up to ask at the next session. Holding off on smaller questions until regularly scheduled mentor meetings not only shows the mentor that the mentee respects their time, but also forces the mentee to put things into perspective and focus on what is important.

Empowered

Mentees should feel empowered to leave a mentorship relationship that is not beneficial to their growth or the growth of their organization. If a mentor is unable to fulfil their originally agreed-upon expectations or is no longer a productive mentorship partner, mentees should leave this relationship and seek a different mentor. It is important to note that not all mentorship matches will be conducive to long-term partnership. If this is the case, mentees should reflect on what is needed in a new mentor and what changes are needed for a successful mentorship relationship.

SAMPLE AGENDA

- I. Updates on Action Items from Previous Meeting
 - a. Success stories related to completing action items
 - Challenges faced when completing action items b.
- II. Review Ongoing Efforts to Meet Mentorship Goals
 - Progress related to mentorship goals
 - b. Additional resources and skills needed to meet mentorship goals
- **Mentee Questions** III.
- IV. **Action Items for Next Meeting**

SETTING THE MENTORSHIP UP FOR **SUCCESS**

IRI programs have demonstrated that formal mentorship relationships are more successful when clearly defined expectations and goals are outlined from the onset of the relationship. 1 Based on IRI's experience implementing mentorship programs around the globe, the elements of a successful mentorship are:

- Trust between mentor and mentee.
- Clear mentorship goal(s) and expectations.
- Defined and agreed-upon roles and responsibilities.
- Incentives for mentor and mentee engagement.
- Balanced mentorship priorities.²

IRI has developed the following tools to maximize the potential success of a mentorship program: the "Setting Expectations" worksheet, formalized Learning Agreement and Mentorship Plan.

Setting Expectations

Before using any other tool, mentors and mentees should verbally walk through the "Setting Expectations" worksheet, which can be found as Attachment A. By sharing their expectations for the mentorship program, the mentor and mentee will have a clearer understanding of their roles and responsibilities in the relationship. The mentor should provide an opportunity for the mentee to disclose any type of information (e.g., identity or disability) that might impact their mentorship, should the mentee decide to disclose it. This understanding will play a key role in developing the Learning Agreement and Mentorship Plan.

Committing to a Learning Agreement

A crucial element of expectations management, the Learning Agreement outlines mutually agreedupon expectations for the mentorship, including time commitments and methods of communication. These expectations can be derived from the mentor and mentee's discussion and signing of the "Setting Expectations" worksheet.

A Learning Agreement template can be found at the end of this handbook as Attachment B. However, mentors and mentees should not be constrained by the template. If needed, add additional sections to ensure the mentorship starts out with mutually agreed-upon standards.

CASE STUDY

In Laos, mentorships that had agreedupon, clear roles and responsibilities for the mentor and mentee had more productive relationships. Moreover, IRI learned that one of the mentors used a charter to further solidify the roles in the mentorship pairing, which has been adapted and included in this toolkit.

¹ Just because goals are set, that does not mean that these goals cannot change. This will be discussed later in the guide.

² IRI has found that the acquisition of funding is often a key priority at the expense of focusing on other, sometimes potentially more beneficial, areas of growth. Mentors should try to balance these priorities by highlighting opportunities and tradeoffs, such as focusing on building government relationships, strategic communications plans, implementing low-cost grassroots programming, etc.

Creating a Mentorship Plan

Goal setting is a critical part of initiating a successful mentoring relationship. After setting and agreeing to expectations of the mentorship program, the mentor and mentee should co-design a structured Mentorship Plan. The plan will help the mentor and mentee define mentorship goals, identify corresponding indicators that measure progress toward meeting these goals and determine the steps needed to meet set indicators.

Below are the basic steps to developing a mentorship plan, which correspond with the template in Attachment C. Following these practices will better ensure a productive, rewarding experience for the mentor and mentee.

Mentees should discuss with their mentors what they want to accomplish through the mentorship program. The output of the discussion should be one or more broad aspirations that will act as a starting point for setting more concrete goals for the mentorship program.

The mentor and mentee should translate the mentee's broad aspirations set in Step One into S.M.A.R.T. goals for the mentorship. By setting clear and actionable goals, the mentorship is more likely to be effective in achieving change.

STEP 3

After outlining mentorship goals, mentors and mentees should co-develop a set of indicators, or benchmarks, to measure progress toward meeting their goals.

On the timeline portion of the mentorship plan, mentors and mentees should work together to determine when the mentee should work toward meeting each indicator and then shade in the proposed months. The last month shaded is when the mentee anticipates meeting the

The mentor and mentee should outline roles and responsibilities for each indicator. These roles and responsibilities can also be thought of as action items that need to be accomplished to meet mentorship goals.

S.M.A.R.T. GOALS SHOULD BE

Specific

When goals are too vague, they are hard to turn into strategies. The more detailed the mentee can be about what they want to accomplish, the more focused the mentorship can be on setting up a plan for how to get there.

Mentee Aspiration

Make It More Specific Publish more op-eds in a newspaper.

Measurable

Whatever goal the mentee wants to achieve should be measurable. Defining goals that can be measured can also be used to assess progress, which often is an important motivating factor in mentorships achieving their intended outcomes.

Mentee Aspiration Share more writing.

Make It More Specific Publish more op-eds in a

Make It Measureable Publish three op-eds in a global newspaper.

Goals should be attainable. As such, mentors and mentees should consider what obstacles they might face, as well if they can overcome challenges. If it does not seem possible to overcome certain obstacles, the goal should be adjusted to be more attainable.

Attainable

Mentee Aspiration Share more writing.

Make It More Specific Publish more op-eds

Make It Measureable Publish three opeds in a global

Attainable Publish three op-eds in a local newspaper or major online

Make Sure It Is

Mentees should consider whether their mentorship goal is relevant. In other words, mentorship goals should align with the mentee's values and larger, long-term professional or personal goals.

Relevant

Mentee **Aspiration**

Make It More Specific Publish more op-eds in a newspaper.

Make It Measureable Publish three opeds in a global newspaper.

Make Sure It Is Attainable Publish three op-eds in a local newspaper or

Make It Relevant Publish three op-eds on gender equality in a

Mentees should set a timeframe for accomplishing their mentorship goal.

Time-bound

Mentee Aspiration

Make It More Specific Publish more op-eds in a global newspaper.

Make It **Measureable** Publish three op-eds in a global newspaper.

Make Sure It Is Attainable Publish three op-eds in a local newspaper or major online publication.

Make It Relevant Publish three op-eds in a local newspaper or major online publication.

Make It **Timebound** Publish three op-eds this year in a local newspaper or major online publication.

RELATIONSHIP BUILDING

Mentoring relationships need commitment and serious work from both sides. A key difference between mentoring and teaching is that unlike a student, the mentee sets the agenda for what is to be achieved, rather than the mentor or teacher. Additionally, rather than teaching, the mentor's role is to provide guidance and support to their mentee based on their technical expertise. The mentor will have experience in certain areas and models of best practice, but the priority is to deal with the issues facing the mentee. When these issues have been resolved and learning goals have been reached, the relationship in this context will come to a successful end.

Building Trust

Over the course of implementing mentorships around the world, IRI has seen trust as a factor that can make or break the success of a mentorship. Without trust, neither the mentor nor the mentee will feel comfortable being candid asking for or sharing feedback, confident that roles and responsibilities are being taken seriously, and motivated to do the work to ensure the mentorship is successful.

Trust is one of the hardest things to establish within a mentoring relationship. Trust building requires a mutual investment, which necessitates a time commitment by both the mentor and mentee to communicate frequently and openly. Mentors and mentees should

also make a concerted effort to get to know each other on a personal and professional level by actively looking for shared experiences they can both discuss and relate to, or even engage in together outside of formal mentorship meetings. The following behaviors are important to keep in mind to foster trust between the mentor and mentee.

Mentorship Structures

Mentors are likely to be further up the career ladder than their mentees. As a result, there are additional steps that mentors need to take to develop trust with a mentee. These steps include, but are not limited to:

- Guaranteeing confidentiality from the beginning. Mentors should assure their mentees that their exchanges are secure and confidential.
- Being honest and transparent. Mentors should not be afraid to get personal. By mentors sharing their career story and personal journey, mentees will be more comfortable talking about the challenges they currently face.
- Eliminating fear and intimidation. The mentoring relationship should be an open dialogue and present a time to be candid. Unless a question breaches the expectations set in the Learning Agreement, mentors should always answer their mentees' questions and encourage them to ask more.

BEHAVIORS THAT BUILD TRUST

Listening proactively and with an open mind

Sharing experiences openly

Being vulnerable

Following through on action items

Actively seeking out different perspectives

Demonstrating a positive outlook

Honoring and respecting confidentiality

BEHAVIORS THAT IMPEDE TRUST

Interrupting others and not paying attention

Being overly competitive

Withholding information or being exclusive

Not matching behavior to words

Being closed to new ideas

Operating from a negative perspective

Revealing information gained in confidence

STAYING ENGAGED

The best mentor-mentee pairings communicate frequently and openly. Traditional, in-person mentoring meetings have many benefits for mentor and mentee relationships - most notably, for developing trust. This is largely due to the importance of nonverbal communication. However, it is not always feasible or practical to have in-person meetings. For example, if the mentor or mentee is traveling — or in more recent times, if there are quarantine restrictions — in-person meetings are not an option. Mentors may also not be able to meet in person as regularly as a mentee might prefer. Virtual tools allow for continued mentoring outside of the traditional meeting setting. They should be considered an important way to ensure engagement and, in turn, a mentorship's success.

Virtual Mentoring

"Virtual mentoring" simply refers to any mentoring activity that does not take place face to face. Tools for virtual mentoring include:

T 0.01	PURPOSE VIDEO CALLING MESSAGING		VEV EF ATURES
TOOL			KEY FEATURES
Zoom	✓		Meetings up to 40 minutes are free. In places with internet connectivity, Zoom is a reliable, widely used service with high-quality video and sound. Includes a recording feature to save and document sessions. Can be difficult to use with a poor internet connection.
Google Hangout	✓	✓ :	A completely free platform. Platform is already installed into Google tools like Gmail. Includes ability to collaborate on documents by combining Google Hangouts with Google Drive.
Skype	~	· .	One of the most commonly used platforms for video and text messaging around the world. Where internet signal may be weak, instead of derailing a planned meeting, the short message service (SMS) and calling services provide a backup means of facilitation.
WhatsApp	✓	✓ .	Includes unlimited real-time messaging with an internet connection. Known for its low data requirements, global recognition an accessibility.
Signal or Telegram		✓ .	Includes unlimited real-time messaging with an internet connection. Includes extra security features, such as end-to-end encryption, security keys and auto-delete of chat.
Email		→ :	Ideal tool if an immediate response is not needed. Sending a detailed email ahead of meeting can give the mentor and mentee time to review meeting topics so they can be prepared to discuss.

Despite its benefits, virtual mentoring can pose some additional challenges when compared to traditional mentoring. To maximize the benefits of virtual mentoring, mentors and mentees need to be prepared to tackle challenges, including those in the chart below.

COMMON PROBLEM

POSSIBLE SOLUTION

Communication Misunderstandings. Virtual communication is limiting for communication cues such as facial expressions or tonal inflections. This is especially true for channels such as email and audio-only calls, as mentees or mentors may be unable to correctly gauge the other's intentions.

Overcome this communication challenge by using video chat whenever possible. This will allow mentors and mentees to see each other's facial expressions and body language, which can help avoid misunderstandings.

Friction. In a perfect world, every form of technology would work all the time. However, that is not the case. Technology failures can be frustrating to both participants and possibly cause a tense relationship.

Technology problems cannot always be prevented, but one can prepare for them. Mentors and mentees should test their technology ahead of formal meetings, as well as prepare contingency plans for when technology issues arise.

Mentor or Mentee Non-Responsiveness. A mentor is typically someone with numerous, high-level responsibilities. That means they do not always have the bandwidth to provide substantive feedback outside of formal mentorship meetings. Additionally, a mentee who is unsure about the mentorship due to feeling overwhelmed, intimidated, etc. may seem uncommitted and unresponsive.

Outside of set meeting times, text messaging and emails can be useful tools for communication. In written correspondence, avoid long-winded text with little in the form of an answerable question. Rather, frame questions so that they can be answered with a yes or no, reserving longer concerns for face-to-face meetings.

While it can seem that mentorships need to be either in-person connections or digitally developed, the best option is a mix of both. A mentor and mentee who can leverage digital tools in their relationship can stay connected better. In addition, having occasional face-to-face meetings can deepen the connection between the participants.

Project-Based Mentoring

As determined through IRI's assessment of mentorship best practices, one of the most effective ways to ensure engagement between mentors and mentees is project-based mentorships. Project-based mentorships consist of mentors working through a standalone project in collaboration with their mentees, allowing them to learn through shared experiences, often through a small grant awarded to one or both organizations. Despite the incentive for increased engagement, before engaging in this type of mentorship activity, mentors and mentees should review the pros and cons of this type of mentorship.

PROS

- · Application of knowledge gained through the mentorship; learn by doing.
- Opportunity for the mentee to work closely with and ask questions of the mentor throughout the entire program lifecycle.
- Increased incentive for mentor if project funding is offered.
- Possibility for the mentee to be embedded within and benefit from mentor network in the long run.

CONS

- Substantial time commitment.
- Difficult to adjust if mentor/mentee relationship is not productive.
- · Often requires additional funding.
- Difficult to coordinate if mentors and mentees work in different regions or sectors or have different approaches to their work.

REVIEWING THE MENTORSHIP

Over time, the nature of the mentoring relationship may vary and support needs could change. Therefore, it is important that mentors and mentees constantly reevaluate mentorship goals, monitor progress made toward achieving them, and explore aspects of the mentorship that may have helped or hindered progress.

Reviewing the Learning Agreement

It is important to periodically review the mentorship Learning Agreement to determine whether expectations are being met. If not, the exercise of reviewing the agreement can be an initial step of getting a mentorship back on track. In instances where expectations shift, it may be beneficial to adjust the Learning Agreement. In these cases, it is important that the mentor and mentee discuss the shifts together and sign the updated agreement.

Reviewing the Mentorship Plan

In each mentorship meeting, time should be set aside to talk about progress made toward meeting the concrete goals defined in the mentorship plan. Based on this conversation, mentors should use check-ins with their mentee to ensure the plan is still relevant, as well as to assist the mentee in revising or adding to the plan, if necessary. The following is a step-by-step outline for a mentee-led conversation focused on reviewing the mentorship plan.

	THE MENTEE	THE MENTOR THEN
STEP 1	Describes in detail actions successfully taken to reach their mentorship goal.	Positively reinforces mentee success and, if needed, provides constructive feedback.
STEP 2	Outlines in detail challenges faced in trying to reach their mentorship goal.	Asks how they overcame challenges or, if necessary, facilitates a brainstorming session to help identify feasible solutions.
STEP 3	Sets action steps to meet goals to complete before the next meeting.	Provides feedback on best practices related to outlined action steps and discusses resources available.
STEP 4	Provides constructive feedback to the mentor on how they can best help moving forward.	Humbly takes feedback into consideration and discusses how they will actualize feedback leading up to the next meeting.

Reviewing the Mentor-Mentee Relationship

There are numerous other aspects of a mentorship that should be reviewed to determine if changes in the relationship need to be made. In particular, it is essential to review the levels of communication and trust in the mentorship relationship, which can be done using the checklist below. If criteria are not being met, mentors and mentees should have a conversation about ways they can improve their level of trust and communication, with the aim of having all criteria met by the end of a formal mentorship program.

Communications

MENTOR CHECKLIST		MENTEE CHECKLIST
I communicate in the ways (in person, phone, email, mail) we agreed.		I communicate in the ways we agreed.
I get back to my mentee within the timeframe we agreed.		I get back to my mentor in the timeframe we agreed.
Occasionally, I spontaneously contact my mentee to say hello or pass along information.		I do not communicate more often than we agreed unless it is a special circumstance.
I am an effective listener and remember what my mentee tells me.		I am an effective listener and remember what my mentor tells me.
I monitor my nonverbal language to be sure it is conveying my meaning.		I invite my mentor to give me suggestions for how I can communicate better.
I provide enough positive feedback to my mentee.		I receive the right amount of positive feedback from my mentor and I use the information to reinforce my habits.
I give my mentee enough corrective feedback.		I continue to ask my mentor for corrective feedback and am not defensive when it was received.
I graciously receive feedback from my mentee.		I remember to give my mentor positive feedback, as well as give them suggestions for improvement.
Tru MENTOR CHECKLIST	ıst	MENTEE CHECKLIST
This mentoring relationship is a high priority for me.		This mentoring relationship is a high priority for me.
I welcome and keep in confidence the information my mentee shares with me.		I welcome and keep in confidence the information my mentor shares with me.
My mentee can count on me to be honest.		My mentor can count on me to be honest.
		I avoid any trust-breaking behaviors
I avoid any trust-breaking behaviors such as canceling appointments without compelling reasons, talking negatively about others or making excuses about why I do not follow through.		such as canceling appointments without compelling reasons, talking negatively about others or making excuses about why I do not follow through.

MENTORSHIP ADAPTIONS

Mentoring Vulnerable Groups

When mentees belong to a vulnerable group, a mentor should be prepared to face different challenges that may affect the successful implementation of their mentorship.3 These contextual challenges and obstacles can be structural and social. Structural challenges can be related to digital connectivity and (lack of) access to transportation. For example, access to an internet connection, electricity or roads can affect the communication between the mentor and the mentee as well as the success of the action plan. These impediments often disproportionately affect people who belong to vulnerable populations. Social challenges are also more common when working with vulnerable groups. Prejudices and cultural stigmas can often translate into discrimination, invisibility or unequal treatment that may affect a mentorship's success.

Mentor Preparation

These diverse realities of mentees from vulnerable populations require the mentor to conduct a primary assessment of the different obstacles and opportunities influencing the success of the mentorship. Through an assessment, mentors will have a better understanding about what capacities will most effectively help the mentee to achieve their goals.

Research

One of the first steps in a mentor's preparation should be to understand the ecosystem in which the mentee is operating. The structural and social barriers that are uncovered through primary and secondary research will inform how the mentor and mentee set mentorship expectations and goals. The mentor should keep in mind that, even with background research, mentees in each group can face specific challenges associated with membership in vulnerable groups.

	PRIMARY RESEARCH	SECONDARY RESEARCH
Definition	Any type of research that someone collects themselves.	Any type of research that uses already existing data.
Source(s)	Interviews; observation.	Official documentation; news and other media; reports from international cooperation organizations or other civil society organizations.
Topics to Research	Culture, including traditions and taboos; types of discrimination affecting a vulnerable group; important powerbrokers in the community.	Political background, including government leaders and structure (one-party communist state, multiparty democracy, etc.); history; specific language codes; legal frameworks that affect a vulnerable group.
Example of Benefit	In the case of primarily Afro-descendant CSOs in Panama, by the mentor meeting with different leaders identified in the community, they were able to have a better understanding of the mentee's operating environment and associated and different challenges of the community.	IRI Panama gave a training to Emberá-Wunaan women in the eastern province of Darien in 2016. For IRI to be able to implement the training, it was necessary to first reach out to the community chief of that indigenous group and get his approval. By doing desk research of local laws, IRI was able to ensure the program started out on the right track.

³ Vulnerable groups include, but are not limited to, the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex and questioning (LGBTIQ+) community, women, youth, indigenous communities and people with disabilities.

Things to Consider

A one-size-fits-all approach cannot be used to ensure successful mentorships with all vulnerable groups. Rather, it is important to understand the unique challenges and varying best practices for engaging mentees from different populations. The chart below outlines things to consider when designing a mentorship for these groups. A mentee can also face challenges stemming from membership in multiple vulnerable groups, which should factor into the development of the mentor plan. While far from exhaustive, the following list enumerates some of the fundamental factors to consider when beginning a mentoring relationship with a mentee from a vulnerable population.

THINGS TO CONSIDER

- Gendered discrimination, harassment and violence.
- Lowered expectations of women and their capabilities.
- Fewer opportunities provided to women, including skills-building and leadership opportunities.

Women

- Lack of or limited access to technology and internet compared to men.
- Gender roles and norms can potentially undermine women's active participation (as compared to men) in a mentorship program.
- Gender dynamics, especially between men and women, may lead women to feel like they are unable to speak as freely with a male mentor.
- Other factors that may lead to a confidence gap between women and men.
- If the mentee is a minor (under 18 years of age), the mentor should obtain written authorization from a parent or guardian for the mentee to participate in the process.
- Many young people have limited access to financial resources for non-essential activities. It is important to design a mentorship based on the economic capacities of the young people and contemplate if it is possible to budget funds for food, communication tools and transportation that may be associated with mentoring activities.

Youth

- When working with young people living in a context of social risk (poverty or insecurity), it is important to consider that they may have reserved or defensive attitudes that limit the communication processes in mentoring. It is important to be flexible and sensitive when asking questions about the mentee's environment, family circle or friends, in order not to cause discomfort.
- Youth mentees may find it difficult to trust and openly communicate with mentors, who are typically much older. In addition to the diligent practice of trust-building behaviors and activities, mentors may find it helpful to invite someone in both the mentor and mentee's network of friends or peers to facilitate the first mentorship meeting. In other words, "to break the ice."

When deciding if a mentorship pairing can be successful, it is important to consider if the mentor and mentee share a common language. Even if the mentor is a great fit in every other way, having to communicate through a translator will hinder open and efficient communication between the mentor and mentee.

Ethnic and Linauistic Minorities and Indigenous Groups

- Materials used during the mentorship should be in the mentee's first language. It can also be helpful to look for resources that include infographics and pictures that visually depict information.
- In many countries where IRI has worked, indigenous groups have a high level of political autonomy. As such, it is important to take care not to violate their internal regulations. Sometimes having the authorization or the support of the central or regional government is not enough to be able to work in an indigenous area — it is important to approach the local leaders.

Religious Minorities

- The mentor should have an in-depth understanding of the mentee's religious traditions that may impact how they develop a relationship with a mentee. For example, some religions may not allow a female mentee to be mentored by a man in a private setting. Additionally, it is important for mentors to foster trust with mentees by respecting their mentee's cultural traditions.
- Mentors should familiarize themselves with definitions related to sexual orientation and gender identity. For example, mentors should respect and use the terms, names and pronouns that mentee uses to refer to themselves. This is a key way to ensure trust is built between the mentorship partners.

LGBTIQ+

- Depending on the local political context, LGBTIQ+ people may face different forms of discrimination, ranging from social marginalization, to the risk of physical violence and hate crimes, to laws enacted to punish homosexual acts or gender nonconformity. Mentors should assess the local context when determining how to approach mentorship expectations and goal setting to ensure the mental and physical safety of their mentees.
- Generate a safe and open environment by proactively committing to diversity, inclusion, dignity and respect. Mentors should explain to their mentee that they do not discriminate based on gender identity, sexual orientation or any other characteristic.
- Mentors should enter the mentoring relationship with the mindset that the barriers faced by mentees are societal and structural, rather than residing in the person.

People with Disabilities

When working with people with disabilities, the mentor must select places or physical spaces based on the universal or inclusive design model. When this is not possible, mentors must make use of reasonable accommodations that allow the inclusion and participation of people with disabilities. This may include interpretation of sign language, electronic equipment and Braille writing to enhance communication and/or inclusion of people with disabilities.

Working in Restrictive Spaces

When working in restrictive spaces, there are additional challenges that may impact a mentorship's success. These include:

Location: Mentorships in closed spaces are often oriented toward a leader in a mature, open civil society providing guidance to a mentee in a developing, often clandestine operating space. As such, the mentor is typically not based in the same country as the mentee. At the onset of the mentorship, a communication plan should be developed that outlines secure methods of communication and topics that are off limits.

Security: When mentee organizations work on democracy or human rights, this represents a threat to authoritarian regimes. When mentor organizations are based in a different country, some shared experiences or activities that seem normal for an open society could be dangerous to execute by the mentee in a restricted space. The mentor must work closely with the mentee to analyze which activities can reach the goal without putting the security of the mentee at risk. This will require extra creativity and a deep understanding of the context in which the mentee is operating.

Communication: When executing a mentorship in a restrictive space, always assume that there is no privacy in communications. Although several secure communications services are available (like Telegram or Signal), no one method is perfect, and any information can be monitored by authorities that could put the mentee in danger. The mentor and mentee should assess the risks associated with their electronic and in-person communications to determine appropriate methods.

Connectivity: In restrictive spaces, governments try to limit citizen connectivity. Mentors should be prepared to be patient and creative in finding the best times and methods to connect with their mentee. This also relates to the mentor and mentee making the most of every meeting to reduce the number of connections that would lead to complications in the process. In these circumstances, mentees should pay extra attention to developing an efficient and effective agenda for each mentorship meeting.

It is advisable to contemplate technological tools to improve communication and connectivity when planning to start a mentorship in a restrictive space. It is preferable that these tools do not demand a significant amount of mobile data or require specialized, expensive equipment. In IRI's experience in restrictive spaces, the use of WhatsApp, Telegram and Signal has been particularly useful as a discussion forum and to share materials from trainings using voice memos.

CASE STUDY

WhatsApp's low data requirements, global recognition and accessibility have made it a useful tool to implement programming in restrictive spaces targeting lower-income or more marginalized communities. IRI has successfully conducted live and ongoing information dissemination activities, forums and workshops through the application. These activities have increased with the COVID-19 pandemic and shift to virtual formats. WhatsApp allows for monitors to mute and unmute chats to control the delivery of information. It also allows the mentor to monitor and evaluate the receptivity of messages and accurately measure the reach of the content shared. Moreover, in sharing information, the application is flexible in the format, allowing mentees to access the information as their data permits it — sometimes they may be able to listen to an audio note, but not download a whole video.

ATTACHMENT A: SETTING EXPECTATIONS

Use this worksheet to develop an understanding of what you expect to gain from your mentoring relationships. By clarifying your own expectations, you will be able to communicate them more effectively.

The mentee should take the lead in this exercise and go through the following list, checking off what they expect from their mentor and the mentor-mentee relationship.

While the mentee is going through the list, the mentor should feel free to ask questions to clarify mentee expectations in order to set mutually agreed-upon ground rules.

I hope that my mentor and I will independently:

торс	that my mentor and twin independently.
	Receive encouragement and support
	Increase my confidence when dealing with different stakeholders
	Challenge myself to achieve new goals and explore alternatives
	Gain a realistic perspective of the field
	Get advice on how to balance work and other responsibilities, and set priorities
	Gain knowledge of "dos and don'ts"
	Learn how to operate in a network of talented peers
	Other
lhana	that my mentor and I will:
Поре	that my mentor and i will.
	Tour my mentor's workplace
	Meet over coffee, lunch or dinner
	Go to educational events such as lectures, conferences or other events together
	Go to local, regional and national professional meetings together
	Other
l hope	that my mentor and I will discuss:
- 1	
	Professional-development subjects that will benefit my organization
	Funding options and search preparation
	The realities of the situation for social organizations
	My mentor's work
	Technical and related field issues
	How to network
	How to balance work and family life
	Personal goals and life circumstances
	Othor

The things I	feel are off limits in my mentoring relationship include:
[Disclosing our conversations to others
\	Jsing non-public places for meetings
S	Sharing intimate aspects of our lives
N	Meeting behind closed doors
C	Other
I hope that r	my mentor will help me with opportunities by:
	Opening doors for me to funding possibilities
	ntroducing me to people/foundations/institutes etc. who might be interested in supporting my organization
H	Helping me practice outreach techniques
S	Suggesting potential contacts for me to pursue on my own
T	Feaching me about networking
	Critiquing my organization's background documents
S	Sharing professional development opportunities
C	Other
1	

ATTACHMENT B: MENTORSHIP LEARNING AGREEMENT

Mentors and mentees: please complete this Learning Agreement together. Use the template below to delineate your expected project outputs, mentorship expectations and timeline. This document was developed using IRI partner Learning for Development Association's Learning Agreement template.

Project:	
Mentor Contact Information:	
Mentee Contact Information:	
Mentorship Expectations:	
For how (in-person, virtual) and how often to meet.	
MENTEE EXPECTATIONS OF MENTOR	MENTOR EXPECTATIONS OF MENTEE
For how and in what circumstances to communicate b	petween meetings.
MENTEE EXPECTATIONS OF MENTOR	MENTOR EXPECTATIONS OF MENTEE
For what is off limits to discuss.	
MENTEE EXPECTATIONS OF MENTOR	MENTOR EXPECTATIONS OF MENTEE
For an anticipated end date of the formal mentorship	relationship.
MENTEE AND MEN	NTOR EXPECTATIONS
Mentor	Mentee
Name:	Name:
Signature:	Signature:
Date:	Date:

ATTACHMENT C: MENTORSHIP PLAN

S.M.A.R.T. Goal:

Timeline Set Each Block to Represent a Month of Time						
Indicator #1:						
Mentee role:						I
Mentor role:						l
Any additional resources (people, technical assistance) needed:						
Indicator #2:						
Mentee role:						I
Mentor role:						l
Any additional resources (people, technical assistance) needed:						
Indicator #3:						
Mentee role:						ſ
Mentor role:						I
Any additional resources (people, technical assistance) needed:						
Notes:						

International Republican Institute

IRI.org @IRIglobal P: (202) 408-9450

E: info@iri.org

